
 

 

 
LICENSING SUB COMMITTEE A 

 

Date: Wednesday 23rd November, 2022 
Time: 10.00 am 

Venue: Mandela Room 

 
AGENDA 

 
 
1.   Apologies for Absence 

 
  

2.   Declarations of Interest 
 

  

3.   Licensing Act 2003 - Application for Review of Premises 
Licence: Lifestyle Express, 22-24 Princes Road, 
Middlesbrough, TS1 4BB.  Ref: PRO415. 
 

 3 - 94 

4.   Licensing Act 2003 - Application for Transfer of Premises 
Licence and Application to Vary the Designated Premises 
Supervisor in respect of Lifestyle Express, 22-24 Princes 
Road, Middlesbrough, TS1 4BB. 
 

 95 - 142 

5.   Any other urgent items which in the opinion of the Chair, may 
be considered. 
 

  

 
Charlotte Benjamin 
Director of Legal and Governance Services 

 
Town Hall 
Middlesbrough 
Tuesday 15 November 2022 
 
MEMBERSHIP 
 
Councillors R Arundale (Chair), T Higgins and S Hill 
 
Assistance in accessing information 
 
Should you have any queries on accessing the Agenda and associated information 
please contact Joanne Dixon / Scott Bonner, 01642 729713 / 01642 729708, 
joanne_dixon@middlesbrough.gov.uk / scott_bonner@middlesbrough.gov.uk 
 

Page 1



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

                                                                                                               AGENDA ITEM 3 
 
FOR THE CHAIR AND MEMBERS OF  
THE LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE  
FOR 23 NOVEMBER 2022  

 
 

APPLICATION FOR REVIEW OF PREMISES LICENCE  

 
       Ref No. PR0415  

 
Applicant: Cleveland Police                              
                                                                                                                   
Premises:  Lifestyle Express, 22-24 Princes Road, Middlesbrough, TS1 4BB     
 
Application received: 27 July 2022   
 
Premises Licence Holder – Mr Abuzar Naveed 
 
Summary of Current Licensable Activities: 
 
SALE OF ALCOHOL ON AND OFF PREMISES 
 
Monday to Sunday 7am to 10pm 
 
A copy of the current premises licence is attached at Appendix 1. 
 
1.  Summary of Applications: 
 
The purpose of this report is to enable Members to consider an application for a review of 
the premises licence for Lifestyle Express, 22-24 Princes Road, Middlesbrough made by 
Cleveland Police on the grounds of the prevention of crime and disorder, public safety and 
the prevention of public nuisance.  
 
Cleveland Police state that high levels of street drinking, anti-social behaviour, nuisance, 
disorder and crime in the local area are linked to the sale of cheap, high ABV alcohol from 
the premises. Cleveland Police also have concerns about the management of the premises 
and the lack of compliance with the conditions of the premises licence.  
 
A copy of the application from Cleveland Police and additional documentation in support of 
their application is attached at Appendix 2.  
 
Under Regulation 11 of the Licensing Act (Hearings) Regulations 2005 the time limit for this 

hearing to take place has been extended as the Council considered it is in the public interest 

and agreed by the Applicant to do so in order to enable the parties to the hearing to be 

present and to convene a panel of members following the Annual General Meeting, training 

and summer recess. 

 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



 
2.  Legislation 
 
The Licensing Act 2003 requires the Licensing Authority to carry out its functions with a view 
to promoting the four licensing objectives: 

 

 The Prevention of Crime and Disorder 

 Public Safety 

 The Prevention of Public Nuisance 

 The Protection of Children from Harm  
 

The Licensing Authority must also have regard to its Licensing Policy and any guidance 
issued by the Secretary of State. 

 
3. Consultation on review application 
 
The premises licence holder, any responsible authority or any other person are permitted to 
make representations in respect of the review application following publication of a notice.  
 
In response to the consultation, on 15 August 2022, a representation was received from the 
Licensing Authority acting in it’s role as a Responsible Authority. A copy of the 
representation which is on the grounds of the prevention of crime and disorder, public safety 
and the prevention of public nuisance is attached at Appendix 3.  
 
On 19 August 2022 a representation was received from the Responsible Authority for Public 
Health supporting the application on the grounds of the prevention of crime and disorder, 
public safety, the prevention of public nuisance and the protection of children from harm.  A 
copy of the representation is attached at Appendix 4. 
 
On 19 August 2022 a representation was received from Nicola Battista, the director of a 
neighbouring business, Guido Hair Limited supporting the application on the grounds of the 
prevention of crime and disorder and the prevention of public nuisance.  A copy of the 
representation is attached at Appendix 5. 
 
On 24 August 2022 a representation was received from Nicola Kenny, a Neighbourhood 
Safety Officer employed by Middlesbrough Council supporting the application on the 
grounds of the prevention of crime and disorder.  A copy of this representation is attached at 
Appendix 6. 
 
On 24 August 2022 a representation was received from the Newport Ward Councillor, Chris 
Cook supporting the application on the grounds of the prevention of crime and disorder and 
the prevention of public nuisance.  A copy of this representation is attached at Appendix 7. 
 
  4.  Background 
 
The Lifestyle Express store, is a busy convenience store situated on a busy residential road 
with a mixture of residential and business premises. The area has historically been part of 
the Council’s Cumulative Impact Area which has lapsed but the Council are seeking to 
reinstate in the very near future. A location plan is attached at Appendix 8. 
 
The premises have had the benefit of a premises licence since 14 April 2009 and Mr Abuzar 
Naveed has been the premises licence holder and designated premises supervisor since 
that time.  
 

Page 4



 
5.  The Licensing Policy 
 
Members are referred to the following relevant sections of the Council’s Licensing Policy. 
 
Prevention of Crime and Disorder  Page 20 
Public Safety     Page 25 
Prevention of Public Nuisance                       Page 27 
Protection of Children from Harm                  Page 30 
Reviews     Pages 47 to 50  
 
And any other sections of the Policy which Members consider to be relevant. 
 
6.  Guidance to the Licensing Act 2003  
 
Members are referred to the following relevant sections of the Guidance. 

 
Prevention of Crime and Disorder   Starting at paragraph 2.1 
Public Safety      Starting at paragraph 2.7 
Prevention of Public Nuisance                        Starting at paragraph 2.15 
Protection of Children from Harm                   Starting at paragraph 2.22 
Reviews                                                          Starting at paragraph 11.1         
 
And any other sections of the Guidance which Members consider to be relevant. 
 
7.  Members’ Options 
 
Members may consider the following options: 
 

a. To modify the conditions of the licence.  
b. To exclude a licensable activity from the scope of the licence.  
c. To remove the Designated Premises Supervisor  
d. To suspend the licence for a period of not exceeding 3 months.  
e. To revoke the licence.  
f. Alternatively, Members may consider that it is not necessary to take any of the above 

steps and may issue an informal warning and/or or recommend improvement within a 
certain time period.        

 
Any party to the hearing who may be aggrieved by the decision taken by the Licensing Sub-
Committee would have a right of appeal to the Magistrates’ Court.  
 
Contact Officer: Sarah Morris   
   Principal Licensing Officer 
   Tel. 728716 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
PREMISES LICENCE 

 
Part A 

  
 
Premises licence number  
 
 

Part 1 - Premises details  
Postal address of premises, or if none, ordnance survey map reference or description  

 
Lifestyle 
22-24 Princes Road 
 

Post town  

Middlesbrough 

Post code 

 TS1 4BB 

Telephone number 

 

Where the licence is time limited the dates 

 
N/A    
 

  

Licensable activities authorised by the licence 

 
Sale of Alcohol 
 
 

 

The times the licence authorises the carrying out of licensable activities 

 
 
SALE OF ALCOHOL OFF PREMISES 

 
Monday to Sunday - 7am to 10pm 
 

  

The opening hours of the premises 

 
Monday to Sunday - 7am to 10pm 
 

 

Where the licence authorises supplies of alcohol whether these are on and/or off supplies  

 
Alcohol sales permitted OFF the premises 
 

 
 
 
 

MBRO/PR0415/063483 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 7



 
Part 2  
 

Name, (registered) address, telephone number and email (where relevant) of holder of premises 
licence  

 
Mr Abuzar Naveed 
142 Abingdon Road  
Middlesbrough   
TS1 3JX 
 
 

 

Registered number of holder, for example company number, charity number (where applicable)  

 
N/A 
 

 

Name, address and telephone number of designated premises supervisor where the premises 
licence authorises the supply of alcohol  

 
Mr Abuzar Naveed 
142 Abingdon Road 
Middlesbrough  
TS1 3JX 
 
07853330329 
 

 

Personal licence number and issuing authority of personal licence held by designated premises 
supervisor where the premises licence authorises for the supply of alcohol  

 
MBRO/PL0759/063747   Issued by Middlesbrough Borough Council 
 
 

  
 
 
 
Granted on 14 April 2009 
 
 

 
   

 
 
    Authorised Officer

Page 8



Annex 1 - Mandatory conditions 

  
 
Mandatory conditions in accordance with Section 19 of the Licensing 
Act 2003: 
 
Where a premises licence authorises the supply of alcohol: 
(i) No supply of alcohol may be made under the premises licence: 
(a) At a time when there is no designated premises supervisor in 
respect of the premises licence, or 
(b) At a time when the designated premises supervisor does not hold 
a personal licence or his personal licence is suspended. 
(ii) Every supply of alcohol under the premises licence must be made 
or authorised by a person who holds a personal licence. 
 
Effective from 1 October 2010 
 
(1)  The premise licence holder or club premises certificate 
holder shall ensure that an age verification policy applies to the 
premises in relation to the sale or supply of alcohol. 
(2)  The policy must require individuals who appear to the 
responsible person to be under 18 years of age (or such older age as 
may be specified in the policy) to produce on request, before being 
served alcohol, identification bearing their photograph, date of birth 
and a holographic mark. 
 

Page 9



Annex 2 - Conditions consistent with the operating Schedule 
  

 
LICENSING OBJECTIVES 
 

 
GENERAL - ALL FOUR LICENSING OBJECTIVES 

 
None 
 
 
THE PREVENTION OF CRIME AND DISORDER 

 
1.  Have a good relationship with Police. 
2.  Will report any disturbances at the premises. 
3.  The premises will be fitted with digital colour CCTV which covers both 
 internal and external areas. All footage will be maintained for 31 days and 
 will be surrendered to a member of any responsible authorities on request. 
4.  No 'perry' will be stocked or sold from the premise at any time. 
5.  A refusal book will be kept on the premises and maintained at all times. 
6.  The Challenge 21 scheme will be operated on the premises and prominent  
signage of this scheme will be displayed in the store. 
7.  Notices will be displayed in the premise stating that alcohol will 
not be served to people under 18 years of age. Notices will also state 
that only accredited proof of identification will be accpeted, those 
being a valid passport or a valid UK photocard driving licence. If no 
identification is provided then the sale of alcohol will be refused. 
8.  An incident book will be kept on the premises and maintained 
showing all incidents of crime and disorder. 
9.  Staff training will be conducted on a 6 monthly basis covering all points  
of serving alcohol to underage persons and serving of alcohol to persons  
already under the influence of the same. Training records of this will be kept  
and maintained for each employee working at the premises. 
 
 
PUBLIC SAFETY 

 
1.  The premises will be fitted with digital colour CCTV which covers 
both internal and external areas. All footage will be maintained for 
31 days and will be surrendered to a member of any responsible 
authorities on request. 
 
 
THE PREVENTION OF PUBLIC NUISANCE 

 
1.  No 'perry' will be stocked or sold from the premise at any time. 
2.  Staff training will be conducted on a 6 monthly basis covering all 
points of serving alcohol to underage persons and serving of alcohol 
to persons already under the influence of the same. Training records 
of this will be kept and maintained for each employee working at the premises. 
 

Page 10



 
THE PROTECTION OF CHILDREN FROM HARM 

 
1.  A refusal book will be kept on the premises and maintained at all times. 
2.  The Challenge 21 scheme will be operated on the premises and 
prominent signage of this scheme will be displayed in the store. 
3.  Notices will be displayed in the premise stating that alcohol will 
not be served to people under 18 years of age. Notices will also state 
that only accredited proof of identification will be accpeted, those 
being a valid passport or a valid UK photocard driving licence. If no 
identification is provided then the sale of alcohol will be refused. 
4.  An incident book will be kept on the premises and maintained 
showing all incidents of crime and disorder. 
5.  Staff training will be conducted on a 6 monthly basis covering all 
points of serving alcohol to underage persons and serving of alcohol 
to persons already under the influence of the same. Training records 
of this will be kept and maintained for each employee working at the premises. 
 

Page 11



Annex 3 - Conditions attached after a hearing by the licensing authority 
  
Not Applicable

Page 12



Annex 4 - Plans 
  

Attached
 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



[Insert name and address of relevant licensing authority and its reference number (optional)] 

Application for the review of a premises licence or club premises certificate under the 

Licensing Act 2003 

PLEASE READ THE FOLLOWING INSTRUCTIONS FIRST 

Before completing this form please read the guidance notes at the end of the form. 

If you are completing this form by hand please write legibly in block capitals. In all cases ensure 

that your answers are inside the boxes and written in black ink. Use additional sheets if necessary. 

You may wish to keep a copy of the completed form for your records.  

I  PC894 Andrew Thorpe 

  (Insert name of applicant) 

apply for the review of a premises licence under section 51 / apply for the review of a club 

premises certificate under section 87 of the Licensing Act 2003 for the premises described in 

Part 1 below (delete as applicable) 

Part 1 – Premises or club premises details  

Postal address of premises or, if none, ordnance survey map reference or description 

LIFESTYLE EXPRESS 
22-24 PRINCES ROAD

Post town 
MIDDLESBROUGH 

Post code (if known)  
TS1 4BB 

Name of premises licence holder or club holding club premises certificate (if known) 

Number of premises licence or club premises certificate (if known) 
MBRO/PR0415//063483 

Part 2 - Applicant details 

I am 

Please tick  yes 

1) an individual, body or business which is not a responsible

authority (please read guidance note 1, and complete (A)

or (B) below)

2) a responsible authority (please complete (C) below) X 

3) a member of the club to which this application relates

(please complete (A) below)

APPENDIX 2

Page 15



 

 

(A) DETAILS OF INDIVIDUAL APPLICANT (fill in as applicable) 

 

Please tick  yes 

 
Mr  Mrs  Miss  Ms  Other title       

 (for example, Rev) 

 

Surname  First names 

             

 
 Please tick  yes 

I am 18 years old or over 

 

 

 

Current postal  

address if  

different from 

premises 

address 

      

 
Post town       Post Code       

 
Daytime contact telephone number       

 
E-mail address 

(optional)  

      

 

 

(B)  DETAILS OF OTHER APPLICANT 

 
Name and address 

      

Telephone number (if any) 

      

E-mail address (optional)  

      

 

Page 16



 

 (C)  DETAILS OF RESPONSIBLE AUTHORITY APPLICANT 

 

 Name and address 

Andrew Thorpe 

Licensing Officer 

Cleveland Police 

Middlesbrough Police Station 

Bridge Street West 

Middlesbrough 

TS21AB 

 

Telephone number (if any) 

01642 302360 

E-mail address (optional)  

Andrew.thorpe@cleveland.police.uk 

  

 

This application to review relates to the following licensing objective(s) 

 

 Please tick one or more boxes  

1) the prevention of crime and disorder X 

2) public safety X 

3) the prevention of public nuisance X 
4) the protection of children from harm  
 

Page 17



Please state the ground(s) for review (please read guidance note 2) 

 

The Lifestyle Express store, 22-24 Princes Road, Middlesbrough is a busy convenience store 

situated on a busy residential road with a mixture of residential and business premises. The area 

has historically been part of the council’s Cumulative Impact Area (CIA) which has lapsed but the 

council are seeking to reinstate in the very near future and this area will again be part of this for 

very good reason. 

 

During 2019/2020 we had several meetings with the Designated Premise Supervisor (DPS) Mr 

Naveed, regarding on going issues of street drinking, disorder and crime which were linked to the 

sale of alcohol from the premise. Mr Naveed agreed to an Action Plan which was in full flow with 

positive results as of January 2020 until the pandemic hit causing lockdowns and restrictions.  

 

After the lifting of restrictions the store fully re-opened and Mr Naveed handed the reigns over to 

Mr Iqbal, although Mr Naveed remains on the licence as the named DPS. The incidents have again 

slowly increased, with the premise again selling stronger cans of beer, cider and lager and selling 

them as individual cans at a cost of between 99p and £1.20 a can.  

 

The incidents have reached a crescendo with street drinking, Anti-social behaviour and nuisance 

being a daily occurrence and the familiar black cans of cheap high ABV cider being ever present. 

Street Enforcement and the Neighbourhood Police team have both taken steps to deal with the 

issues and have visited the store on a number of occasions. 

 

Police Licensing along with Public Health visited the premise on Friday 15th July 2022. On arrival 

we immediately saw two females arguing outside the shop, the arguing was becoming more 

intense and the situation was escalating. We had to step in to put a stop to the incident. As the 

situation was calming and the females were walking away a male across the road drinking from a 

Black can began to shout across the road at the officers. I approached the male who was drinking a 

can of Knights cider which is sold from the store we were attending and he had another can of the 

same drink next to him. Knights is a high ABV (8.4% ABV) and low cost (£1.20 a can sold as 

single cans). He was clearly drunk, his eyes glazed and his speech slurred. The male was spoken 

and told to leave the area. These types of incidents are not unusual in this area. 

On entering the store and looking around we saw Perry products for sale on the shelves (a breach 

of the premise licence conditions), high ABV single cans of cider making up a large portion of the 

alcohol for sale, and the majority of litre plus bottles of cider were again high ABV. Mr Iqbal was 

serving and watching over the store and when asked confirmed that he was in charge and that he 

had been running the business since last year. He was asked why Mr Naveed was still named as 

DPS on the licence, but Mr Iqbal had no satisfactory answer. As we were of the opinion that there 

was no DPS in day to day control of the premises Mt Iqbal was asked to refrain from the sale of 

alcohol until the matter was resolved, removing alcohol from floor displays, covering the 

refrigerated alcohol and refusing any further requests for sale. Mr Iqbal agreed to this and was 

seen to refuse the next few customers’ service of alcohol while we were there. 

 

Police Licensing, Public Health, Council Licensing and Street Enforcement officers attended the 

store again on Tuesday 19th July 2022 at 13:15 hours. Mr Iqbal was again in attendance but Mr 

Naveed was also there serving from behind the counter. Mr Naveed stated he was there as DPS 

and when asked considered that he was in day to day control of the premises. Mr Naveed was 

asked to demonstrate the CCTV, he stated that there had been some problems with the CCTV. 

When he tried to go back to show us footage from previous days it was found that CCTV was only 

on from that day and no previous CCTV had been recorded. This was despite our visit on Friday 

15th July and the council’s visit on Monday 18th July when Mr Iqbal had been asked about the 

CCTV on both occasions. Mr Naveed was then asked to produce Training records, the incident 

book and the refusals book. Mr Naveed produced three books which all looked brand new, in fact 

the training record had a price label on it which looked new. There were entries in the training 

book and the refusals log but they all looked to be in the same pen and by the same person. The 

books were seized as evidence. 

 

Page 18



Mr Naveed attended the Civic Centre, Middlesbrough for a meeting with responsible authorities 

regarding the issues at Lifestyle Express. He explained that for the past two weeks he had been 

there on the Monday of both for a maximum of two hours and estimated his regular attendance as 

four hours a week which I do not believe fulfils his obligation of day to day running of the 

premise. He does not have responsibility for stock, staff wages, or other managerial duties and 

holds down a part time job elsewhere. He was unwilling to acknowledge the issues in the area and 

could not see the part the store played in the problems. He also said that on re-opening after the 

COVID restrictions he did not continue with the Action Plan that had been agreed in January 2020 

which he did agree probably did not help.  

 

Unfortunately the running of the premise does not instil us with the confidence that matters could 

be put right in the short term, leading to further disruption for the residents and possible ASB and 

disorder. With their continued sale of single can high strength alcohol and large bottles of high 

ABV white cider we believe that the Licensing Objectives as a consequence are and will continue 

to be undermined. 

Page 19



Please provide as much information as possible to support the application (please read 

guidance note 3) 

 

Additional evidence will be supplied in due course 

Page 20



                                                                                                                                  Please tick  yes 

Have you made an application for review relating to the 

premises before 

 

 

 

If yes please state the date of that application Day Month Year 

                
 

 

 

 

If you have made representations before relating to the premises please state what they were 

and when you made them 

      

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

Page 21



 

  

                                                                                                                                  Please tick  

yes 
 

 I have sent copies of this form and enclosures to the responsible authorities 

and the premises licence holder or club holding the club premises certificate, 

as appropriate 

X 

 I understand that if I do not comply with the above requirements my 

application will be rejected 

 

       
 

IT IS AN OFFENCE, UNDER SECTION 158 OF THE LICENSING ACT 2003, TO MAKE 

A FALSE STATEMENT IN OR IN CONNECTION WITH THIS APPLICATION. THOSE 

WHO MAKE A FALSE STATEMENT MAY BE LIABLE ON SUMMARY CONVICTION 

TO A FINE OF ANY AMOUNT.   

 

Part 3 – Signatures   (please read guidance note 4) 

 

Signature of applicant or applicant’s solicitor or other duly authorised agent (please read 

guidance note 5). If signing on behalf of the applicant please state in what capacity. 

 

Signature     A Thorpe 

………………………………………………………………………………………………… 
 

Date             27/07/2022 

………………………………………………………………………………………………… 
 

Capacity      Licensing Officer 

………………………………………………………………………………………………… 
 

Contact name (where not previously given) and postal address for correspondence 

associated with this application (please read guidance note 6) 

PC Andrew Thorpe 

Licensing Officer 

Middlesbrough Police Station 

Bridge Street West 

Middlesbrough 

TS21AB 

 

Post town 

Middlesbrough 

Post Code 

TS21AB 

Telephone number (if any)  01642 302360      

If you would prefer us to correspond with you using an e-mail address your e-mail address 

(optional) Andrew.thorpe@cleveland.police.uk 

 

Notes for Guidance  

 

1. A responsible authority includes the local police, fire and rescue authority and other 

statutory bodies which exercise specific functions in the local area. 

2. The ground(s) for review must be based on one of the licensing objectives. 

3. Please list any additional information or details for example dates of problems which are 

included in the grounds for review if available. 

4. The application form must be signed. 

5. An applicant’s agent (for example solicitor) may sign the form on their behalf provided 

that they have actual authority to do so. 

Page 22



6. This is the address which we shall use to correspond with you about this application. 

 

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



MG 11-00(T) 
 RESTRICTED (when complete) 

CLEVELAND POLICE
WITNESS STATEMENT 

(CJ Act 1967, s9 MC Act 1980, ss5A(3)(a) and 5B; Criminal Procedure Rules 2005, r.27.1(1) 

Form/Template Revised 06/2009 SB.C:\USERS\MLX284\WORK FOLDERS\DESKTOP\NEW FOLDER (2)\AG ITEM 3 APPX 2A R 
STATEMENT FROM CLEVELAND POLICE COPY.DOC 

URN 17 

Statement of Andrew THORPE 

Age if under 18 Over 18 (If over 18 insert "Over 18") Occupation Police Constable 0894 

This statement (consisting of 5 page(s) each signed by me) is true to the best of my knowledge and belief 
and I make it knowing that if it is tendered in evidence I shall be liable to prosecution if I have wilfully stated 
anything in it, which I know to be false, or do not believe to be true. 

Signature Andrew Thorpe Date:  10/10/2022 

Tick if witness evidence is visually recorded   (supply witness details on rear) 

I am a serving police officer with Cleveland Police. I am currently stationed with the 

Licensing Support Unit at Middlesbrough Police HQ and have attained a BIIAB Level 2 

Award for Licensing Practitioners and a BIIAB Level 2 for Legislative Requirements for 

Alcohol Licensed Premise and the Assessment for recognised Award Schemes. 

Part of my role as a licensing support officer is to monitor licensed premises within all four 

districts of the Cleveland Police area, including Middlesbrough, ensuring that they are 

trading within the spirit of the four licensing objectives. We will ask that they will not have 

an adverse effect on the surrounding community or have a negative impact on Crime & 

Disorder, Public Safety or Public Nuisance objectives and will Prevent Harm to Children. 

This statement is in relation to a review application submitted by Cleveland Police 

regarding The Lifestyle Express Store, Princes Road, Middlesbrough, as we believe that 

the store has failed to uphold three of the four of the Licensing Objectives, namely Crime & 

Signature PC894 A Thorpe Signature Witnessed by 

Appendix 2a

Page 25



MG 11-00(T) 
  RESTRICTED (when complete)  

 

                                                          CLEVELAND POLICE 
  Page No 2 

Continuation of Statement of Andrew THORPE 
 

 

Disorder, Prevention of Public Nuisance, and Public Safety. 

 

The Lifestyle Express store, 22-24 Princes Road, Middlesbrough is a busy convenience 

store situated on a busy residential road with a mixture of residential and business 

premises. The area has historically been part of the council’s Cumulative Impact Area 

(CIA) which has lapsed but the council are seeking to reinstate in the very near future and 

this area will again be part of this for very good reason. 

 

During 2019/2020 we had several meetings with the Designated Premise Supervisor (DPS) 

Mr Naveed, regarding on going issues of street drinking, disorder and crime which were 

linked to the sale of alcohol from the premise. Mr Naveed agreed to an Action Plan which 

was in full flow with positive results as of January 2020 until the pandemic hit causing 

lockdowns and restrictions.  

 

After the lifting of restrictions, the store fully re-opened and Mr Naveed handed the reigns 

over to Mr Iqbal, although Mr Naveed remains on the licence as the named DPS. The 

incidents have again slowly increased, with the premise again selling stronger cans of 

beer, cider and lager and selling them as individual cans at a cost of between 99p and 

£1.20 a can.  

 

The incidents have reached a crescendo with street drinking, Anti-social behaviour and 

nuisance being a daily occurrence and the familiar black cans of cheap high ABV cider 

Page 26



MG 11-00(T) 
  RESTRICTED (when complete)  

 

                                                          CLEVELAND POLICE 
  Page No 3 

Continuation of Statement of Andrew THORPE 
 

 

being ever present. Street Enforcement and the Neighbourhood Police team have both 

taken steps to deal with the issues and have visited the store on a number of occasions. 

 

Police Licensing along with Public Health visited the premise on Friday 15th July 2022. On 

arrival we immediately saw two females arguing outside the shop, the arguing was 

becoming more intense, and the situation was escalating. We had to step in to put a stop to 

the incident. As the situation was calming and the females were walking away a male 

across the road drinking from a Black can began to shout across the road at the officers. I 

approached the male who was drinking a can of Knights cider which is sold from the store 

we were attending, and he had another can of the same drink next to him. Knights is a high 

ABV (8.4% ABV) and low cost (£1.20 a can sold as single cans). He was clearly drunk, his 

eyes glazed, and his speech slurred. The male was spoken and told to leave the area. 

These types of incidents are not unusual in this area. 

 

On entering the store and looking around we saw Perry products for sale on the shelves (a 

breach of the premise licence conditions), high ABV single cans of cider making up a large 

portion of the alcohol for sale, and the majority of litre plus bottles of cider were again high 

ABV. Mr Iqbal was serving and watching over the store and when asked confirmed that he 

was in charge and that he had been running the business since last year. He was asked 

why Mr Naveed was still named as DPS on the licence, but Mr Iqbal had no satisfactory 

answer. As we were of the opinion that there was no DPS in day-to-day control of the 

premises Mt Iqbal was asked to refrain from the sale of alcohol until the matter was 

resolved, removing alcohol from floor displays, covering the refrigerated alcohol and 

Page 27



MG 11-00(T) 
  RESTRICTED (when complete)  

 

                                                          CLEVELAND POLICE 
  Page No 4 

Continuation of Statement of Andrew THORPE 
 

 

refusing any further requests for sale. Mr Iqbal agreed to this and was seen to refuse the 

next few customers’ service of alcohol while we were there. 

 

Police Licensing, Public Health, Council Licensing and Street Enforcement officers 

attended the store again on Tuesday 19th July 2022 at 13:15 hours. Mr Iqbal was again in 

attendance, but Mr Naveed was also there serving from behind the counter. Mr Naveed 

stated he was there as DPS and when asked considered that he was in day-to-day control 

of the premises. Mr Naveed was asked to demonstrate the CCTV, he stated that there had 

been some problems with the CCTV. When he tried to go back to show us footage from 

previous days it was found that CCTV was only on from that day and no previous CCTV 

had been recorded. This was despite our visit on Friday 15th July and the council’s visit on 

Monday 18th July when Mr Iqbal had been asked about the CCTV on both occasions. Mr 

Naveed was then asked to produce Training records, the incident book and the refusals 

book. Mr Naveed produced three books which all looked brand new, in fact the training 

record had a price label on it which looked new. There were entries in the training book and 

the refusals log, but they all looked to be in the same pen and by the same person. The 

books were seized as evidence. 

 

Mr Naveed attended the Civic Centre, Middlesbrough for a meeting with responsible 

authorities regarding the issues at Lifestyle Express. He explained that for the past two 

weeks he had been there on the Monday of both for a maximum of two hours and 

estimated his regular attendance as four hours a week which I do not believe fulfils his 

obligation of day to day running of the premise. He does not have responsibility for stock, 

Page 28



MG 11-00(T) 
  RESTRICTED (when complete)  

 

                                                          CLEVELAND POLICE 
  Page No 5 

Continuation of Statement of Andrew THORPE 
 

 

staff wages, or other managerial duties and holds down a part time job elsewhere. He was 

unwilling to acknowledge the issues in the area and could not see the part the store played 

in the problems. He also said that on re-opening after the COVID restrictions he did not 

continue with the Action Plan that had been agreed in January 2020 which he did agree 

probably did not help.  

 

We have since received an application to vary the Designated Premises Supervisor for the 

premises which we have objected to awaiting the outcome of this review hearing. 

 

A review of any premises licence is the last resort, and we will always strive to met the 

premises needs in other ways before resorting to this however the familiar cycle of issues 

with the premises have forced our hands. Unfortunately, the running of the premise does 

not instil us with the confidence that matters could be put right in the short term, leading to 

further disruption for the residents and possible ASB and disorder. With their continued 

sale of single can high strength alcohol and large bottles of high ABV white cider we 

believe that the Licensing Objectives as a consequence are and will continue to be 

undermined. 

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



MG 11-00(T) 
 RESTRICTED (when complete) 
CLEVELAND POLICE

WITNESS STATEMENT 
(CJ Act 1967, s9 MC Act 1980, ss5A(3)(a) and 5B; Criminal Procedure Rules 2005, r.27.1(1) 

Form/Template Revised 06/2009 SB.C:\USERS\MLX284\WORK FOLDERS\DESKTOP\NEW FOLDER (2)\AG ITEM 3 APPX 2B 
STATEMENT OF PC THORPE.DOCX 

URN 17 

Statement of Andrew THORPE 

Age if under 18 Over 18 (If over 18 insert "Over 18") Occupation Police Constable 0894 

This statement (consisting of 5 page(s) each signed by me) is true to the best of my knowledge and belief and 
I make it knowing that if it is tendered in evidence I shall be liable to prosecution if I have wilfully stated anything 
in it, which I know to be false, or do not believe to be true. 

Signature Andrew Thorpe Date:  10/10/2022 

Tick if witness evidence is visually recorded   (supply witness details on rear) 

I am a serving police officer with Cleveland Police. I am currently stationed with the Licensing 

Support Unit at Middlesbrough Police HQ and have attained a BIIAB Level 2 Award for 

Licensing Practitioners and a BIIAB Level 2 for Legislative Requirements for Alcohol 

Licensed Premise and the Assessment for recognised Award Schemes. 

Part of my role as a licensing support officer is to monitor licensed premises within all four 

districts of the Cleveland Police area, including Middlesbrough, ensuring that they are trading 

within the spirit of the four licensing objectives. We will ask that they will not have an adverse 

effect on the surrounding community or have a negative impact on Crime & Disorder, Public 

Safety or Public Nuisance objectives and will Prevent Harm to Children. 

This statement is in relation to a review application submitted by Cleveland Police regarding 

The Lifestyle Express Store, Princes Road, Middlesbrough, as we believe that the store has 

Signature PC894 A Thorpe Signature Witnessed by 

Appendix 2b

Page 31



MG 11-00(T) 
  RESTRICTED (when complete)  

 

                                                          CLEVELAND POLICE 
  Page No 2 

Continuation of Statement of Andrew THORPE 
 

 

failed to uphold three of the four of the Licensing Objectives, namely Crime & Disorder, 

Prevention of Public Nuisance, and Public Safety. 

 

The Lifestyle Express store, 22-24 Princes Road, Middlesbrough is a busy convenience store 

situated on a busy residential road with a mixture of residential and business premises. The 

area has historically been part of the council’s Cumulative Impact Area (CIA) which has 

lapsed but the council are seeking to reinstate in the very near future and this area will again 

be part of this for very good reason. 

 

During 2019/2020 we had several meetings with the Designated Premise Supervisor (DPS) 

Mr Naveed, regarding on going issues of street drinking, disorder and crime which were 

linked to the sale of alcohol from the premise. Mr Naveed agreed to an Action Plan which 

was in full flow with positive results as of January 2020 until the pandemic hit causing 

lockdowns and restrictions.  

 

After the lifting of restrictions, the store fully re-opened and Mr Naveed handed the reigns 

over to Mr Iqbal, although Mr Naveed remains on the licence as the named DPS. The 

incidents have again slowly increased, with the premise again selling stronger cans of beer, 

cider and lager and selling them as individual cans at a cost of between 99p and £1.20 a 

can.  

 

The incidents have reached a crescendo with street drinking, Anti-social behaviour and 

nuisance being a daily occurrence and the familiar black cans of cheap high ABV cider being 

Page 32



MG 11-00(T) 
  RESTRICTED (when complete)  

 

                                                          CLEVELAND POLICE 
  Page No 3 

Continuation of Statement of Andrew THORPE 
 

 

ever present. Street Enforcement and the Neighbourhood Police team have both taken steps 

to deal with the issues and have visited the store on a number of occasions. 

 

Police Licensing along with Public Health visited the premise on Friday 15th July 2022. On 

arrival we immediately saw two females arguing outside the shop, the arguing was becoming 

more intense, and the situation was escalating. We had to step in to put a stop to the incident. 

As the situation was calming and the females were walking away a male across the road 

drinking from a Black can began to shout across the road at the officers. I approached the 

male who was drinking a can of Knights cider which is sold from the store we were attending, 

and he had another can of the same drink next to him. Knights is a high ABV (8.4% ABV) 

and low cost (£1.20 a can sold as single cans). He was clearly drunk, his eyes glazed, and 

his speech slurred. The male was spoken and told to leave the area. These types of incidents 

are not unusual in this area. 

 

On entering the store and looking around we saw Perry products for sale on the shelves (a 

breach of the premise licence conditions), high ABV single cans of cider making up a large 

portion of the alcohol for sale, and the majority of litre plus bottles of cider were again high 

ABV. Mr Iqbal was serving and watching over the store and when asked confirmed that he 

was in charge and that he had been running the business since last year. He was asked why 

Mr Naveed was still named as DPS on the licence, but Mr Iqbal had no satisfactory answer. 

As we were of the opinion that there was no DPS in day-to-day control of the premises Mt 

Iqbal was asked to refrain from the sale of alcohol until the matter was resolved, removing 

alcohol from floor displays, covering the refrigerated alcohol and refusing any further 

Page 33



MG 11-00(T) 
  RESTRICTED (when complete)  

 

                                                          CLEVELAND POLICE 
  Page No 4 

Continuation of Statement of Andrew THORPE 
 

 

requests for sale. Mr Iqbal agreed to this and was seen to refuse the next few customers’ 

service of alcohol while we were there. 

 

Police Licensing, Public Health, Council Licensing and Street Enforcement officers attended 

the store again on Tuesday 19th July 2022 at 13:15 hours. Mr Iqbal was again in attendance, 

but Mr Naveed was also there serving from behind the counter. Mr Naveed stated he was 

there as DPS and when asked considered that he was in day-to-day control of the premises. 

Mr Naveed was asked to demonstrate the CCTV, he stated that there had been some 

problems with the CCTV. When he tried to go back to show us footage from previous days 

it was found that CCTV was only on from that day and no previous CCTV had been recorded. 

This was despite our visit on Friday 15th July and the council’s visit on Monday 18th July when 

Mr Iqbal had been asked about the CCTV on both occasions. Mr Naveed was then asked to 

produce Training records, the incident book and the refusals book. Mr Naveed produced 

three books which all looked brand new, in fact the training record had a price label on it 

which looked new. There were entries in the training book and the refusals log, but they all 

looked to be in the same pen and by the same person. The books were seized as evidence. 

 

Mr Naveed attended the Civic Centre, Middlesbrough for a meeting with responsible 

authorities regarding the issues at Lifestyle Express. He explained that for the past two 

weeks he had been there on the Monday of both for a maximum of two hours and estimated 

his regular attendance as four hours a week which I do not believe fulfils his obligation of day 

to day running of the premise. He does not have responsibility for stock, staff wages, or other 

managerial duties and holds down a part time job elsewhere. He was unwilling to 

Page 34



MG 11-00(T) 
  RESTRICTED (when complete)  

 

                                                          CLEVELAND POLICE 
  Page No 5 

Continuation of Statement of Andrew THORPE 
 

 

acknowledge the issues in the area and could not see the part the store played in the 

problems. He also said that on re-opening after the COVID restrictions he did not continue 

with the Action Plan that had been agreed in January 2020 which he did agree probably did 

not help.  

 

We have since received an application to vary the Designated Premises Supervisor for the 

premises which we have objected to awaiting the outcome of this review hearing. 

 

A review of any premises licence is the last resort, and we will always strive to met the 

premises needs in other ways before resorting to this however the familiar cycle of issues 

with the premises have forced our hands. Unfortunately, the running of the premise does not 

instil us with the confidence that matters could be put right in the short term, leading to further 

disruption for the residents and possible ASB and disorder. With their continued sale of single 

can high strength alcohol and large bottles of high ABV white cider we believe that the 

Licensing Objectives as a consequence are and will continue to be undermined. 

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



 
Middlesbrough Council 

The Licensing Act 2003 - Responsible Authority (RA) Representation 
 

 

Name of RA Representative: Tim Hodgkinson, Licensing Manager 
 
Address: Public Protection Service, Civic Centre, Middlesbrough.  
Email:  Tim_hodgkinson@middlesbrough.gov.uk     Tel 01642 728720 

 
Licence holder details 
 

Name and Address of Premises  
 
 

Address:   22-24 Princes Road, Middlesbrough TS1 4BB 
 

 

Name of licence holder or club holding club premises certificate (if known) 
 
Mr Abuzar Naveed 
 

 

Number of premises licence or club premise certificate (if known) 
 
MBRO/PR0415/063483 

 
 

 

 
Representation 
 
It is my opinion that the application fails to adequately satisfy the following licensing 
objectives: 
 

 

Grounds for representation (including details of any previous representations)  

 

As the representative of the Responsible Authority for Middlesbrough Council Licensing 

Department, I make this representation in support of the Review Application made by 

Cleveland Police on the grounds of the Prevention of Crime and Disorder, Public Safety 

and Prevention of Public Nuisance.  

 

The premises is situated in Middlesbrough Town Centre which has a high density of 

licensed premises and already suffers from high levels of alcohol related crime and 

disorder and anti-social behaviour.   

X Prevention of Crime and Disorder 

X Prevention of Public Nuisance 

X Public Safety 

 Protection of Children from Harm  

APPENDIX 3

Page 37

mailto:Tim_hodgkinson@middlesbrough.gov.uk


 

 

 2 

For a number of years the Town Centre has been included in an area covered by 

Cumulative Impact Policies for both On and Off Licence Premises. Whilst these policies 

have lapsed there is a current review ongoing of the Council’s Statement of Licensing 

Policy. Evidence has been provided to the Council which shows that there are still high 

levels of alcohol related crime and disorder and anti social behaviour within the Town 

Centre and a draft Statement of Licensing Policy is currently being prepared for 

consultation which will recommend maintaining the Cumulative Impact Policy for the Town 

Centre area for both On and Off Licence Premises.  

On 19 July 2022 I visited the premises with Reece Littlewood, Licensing Enforcement 

Officer and Fiona Helyer, Public Health Officer following concerns raised by Mrs Helyer 

and Cleveland Police that there was no Designated Premises Supervisor or Personal 

Licence holder in place at the premises to authorise the sale of alcohol. 

We entered the premises and spoke to Zafar Iqbal, the new owner of the business and 

advised that if there was no Designated Premises Licence holder in place he should not be 

selling alcohol. Mr Iqbal stated that he did not speak very good English and handed me his 

mobile phone and asked me to speak to a female called Parveen Iqbal, who I understand 

is Mr Iqbal’s wife. Mrs Iqbal explained that there had been a misunderstanding and that 

Abuzar Naveed was still the Designated Premises Supervisor at the premises and visited 

the shop occasionally.   

I then began to carry out a check of the premises licence conditions and found a number 

of breaches of the premises licence conditions and areas of concern including – 

 There were a number of perry products on sale – Mr Iqbal did not appear to know 

there was a condition on the premises licence prohibiting the sale of such products.  

 There was no refusal book in operation – Mr Iqbal initially stated that this book had 

been taken away by a Trading Standards Officer following a visit on 30 May 2022, 

however, this was confirmed later by Trading Standards not to be the case. He 

subsequently produced a hard bound book detailing only 3 entries for refusal of 

alcohol sales since June 2022, 2 refusals for alcohol and 1 for cigarettes – all for 

not having ID (exhibit TH1).  

 In relation to the condition concerning staff training Mr Iqbal did not appear to have 

any knowledge of which members of staff had been trained or how often the training 

took place. He was also not aware whether there were any training records for staff, 

however, one of the members of staff, Samyuhta Gopal advised that he had 

undertaken training which had included underage sales, appropriate identification 

and refusals and that this had been done by Parveen Iqbal.  

 Mr Iqbal was unable to access the CCTV system for the premises to be able to 

show that the appropriate footage was being retained. 

I advised Mr Iqbal that because of my concerns I needed to speak with Abuzar Naveed, 

the Designated Premises Supervisor. Mr Iqbal stated that he did not have a contact 

Page 38



 

 

 3 

number for Abuzar Naveed but only had a contact number for Mr Naveed’s sister. Shortly 

afterwards I spoke with Abuzar Naveed on the telephone. He advised that he was the 

Designated Premises Supervisor at the premises and that he did visit the shop at least 2 

times a week and that he had visited at 3pm the day before. He stated that although he 

was the current Premises Licence holder and Designated Premises Supervisor he had 

been meaning to transfer the Premises Licence to Mr Iqbal for some time – approximately 

4 or 5 months but had not got around to completing the transfer. 

Whilst carrying out the visit I also noticed a large selection of cheap, high strength beers 

and ciders on sale at the premises. This is the type of alcohol which is favoured by alcohol 

dependent street drinkers. I understand that the area in the immediate vicinity of these 

premises suffers from significant issues with street drinker. 

The products on sale included – 

Frosty Jacks Cider – 7.5% abv 

White Storm White Cider – 7.5% abv 

Single Cans of Kestrel Super Strength Larger – 9% abv 

Single Cans of Oranjeboom Strong Beer – 7.5% abv 

During the time we were present at the premises, approximately 30 minutes, I witnessed 

approximately 5 or 6 highly intoxicated customers enter the premises attempting to buy 

alcohol including 2 customers who made enquiries about buying single cans of lager. On 

each occasion the sales were refused by Mr Iqbal. Given that he had made these 5 or 6 

refusals within the 30 minute period we were present I would have expected there to be far 

more that the 3 refusals entered in the refusals register since June 2022. 

It is also noted that none of the 3 refusals in June 2022 were as a result of customers 

being drunk. 

It is clear from concerns raised to the Council by residents and other businesses in the 

area that this area of Town already suffers from high levels of alcohol related crime and 

anti social behaviour and instances of street drinking. 

It remains my opinion that poor management of these premises, including a number of 

breaches of licence conditions, is significantly contributing to the undermining the Crime 

and Disorder, Public Safety and Public Nuisance licensing objectives.  

 
 

Signed: T Hodgkinson          Dated 15 August 2022 

 

 

  
 

Page 39



 

 

 4 

 
APPENDIX 1 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 40



 

 

 5 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 4

Page 43



Page 44



Page 45



Page 46



Page 47



Page 48



Page 49



Page 50



Page 51



Page 52



Page 53



Page 54



Page 55



Page 56



Page 57



Page 58



Page 59



Page 60



Page 61



Page 62



Page 63



Page 64



Page 65



Page 66



Page 67



Page 68



Page 69



Page 70



Page 71



Page 72



Page 73



Page 74



Page 75



Page 76



Page 77



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 5

Page 79



Page 80



APPENDIX 6

Page 81



Page 82



APPENDIX 7

Page 83



Page 84



 

P
age 85



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Middlesbrough Council 
Public Protection 

STATEMENT OF WITNESS 
(Criminal Procedure Rules, r 16.2; 

Criminal Justice Act 1967, s. 9, Magistrates’ Courts Act 1980, s.5B) 

STATEMENT OF: Nicola Kenny SHEET NO. 1 

Signed........................................ Dated................................................... 

AGE (if over 18 enter “over 18”):  Over 18 

OCCUPATION OF WITNESS: Neighbourhood Safety Officer 
This statement (consisting of 7 pages each signed by me) is true to the best of my knowledge and belief and I make it 

knowing that, if it is tendered in evidence, I shall be liable to prosecution if I have wilfully stated in it anything which I know 

to be false or do not believe to be true. 

Dated: 1st October 2022 

Signed:   

My name is Nicola Kenny and I am a Neighbourhood 

Safety Officer (NSO) covering areas of Newport designated as Selective 

Landlord Licensing areas.  My primary role is to investigate issues of antisocial 

behaviour and low level crime within my designated locality and deliver 

interventions and/or enforcement action to ultimately alleviate those issues. With 

this in mind my role is essentially one of enforcement although my involvement is 

often more holistic due to the nature and complexity of the problems. 

I have been an NSO for Newport since February 2021 and during this time 

Princes Road has been a popular location for rough sleepers and individuals with 

varying degrees of drug/alcohol dependency.  This small location is attractive to 

vulnerable individuals for 2 primary reasons:  

1. The Neighbourhood Welfare Café provides hot meals and basic everyday

items to those who are homeless

2. Lifestyle Express selling cheap, high content alcohol.

Appendix 9

Page 87



Middlesbrough Council 
Public Protection 

STATEMENT OF WITNESS 
(Criminal Procedure Rules, r 16.2; 

Criminal Justice Act 1967, s. 9, Magistrates’ Courts Act 1980, s.5B) 
 

STATEMENT OF: Nicola Kenny      SHEET NO. 2 

 

 
Signed........................................ Dated................................................... 
 
 
 

Prior to me becoming the NSO for Newport, my colleague had previously dealt 

with the same re-occurring alcohol related issues in and around this area of 

Princes Road and agrees that the access to cheap, high content alcohol is a 

contributing factor to the ongoing disorder faced by residents and businesses. 

 

When I was first introduced to the area evidence of street drinking was apparent 

by the number of empty cans of alcohol littering Princes Road in the immediate 

vicinity of the Lifestyle Express known locally as the Premier Shop and in the 

areas know to be frequented by street drinkers.  Furthermore, it was not 

uncommon to actually see individuals openly drinking a particular brand of 

alcohol known to be sold by the Lifestyle Express or leaving the same shop 

having purchased alcohol.  Street teams responsible for disposing of the litter 

also informed me that it is a daily struggle removing all the cans from gutters and 

over flowing bins.  

 

Many of the individuals, by their own admission are attracted to the area for a 

multitude of reasons but primarily due to the access they have to food and cheap 

alcohol.  The Neighbourhood Welfare Cafe is not open for food every day of the 

week but the street drinkers that frequent Princes Road would remain in the area 

regardless as access to alcohol was their priority and this need was met by 

Lifestyle Express.  

 

In addition to this, Princes Road consists of back to back street houses so front 

doors open directly on to the street.  Although residents were reluctant to come 

forward with concerns, likely due to the fear of reprisals, some complaints were 

Page 88



Middlesbrough Council 
Public Protection 

STATEMENT OF WITNESS 
(Criminal Procedure Rules, r 16.2; 

Criminal Justice Act 1967, s. 9, Magistrates’ Courts Act 1980, s.5B) 
 

STATEMENT OF: Nicola Kenny      SHEET NO. 3 

 

 
Signed........................................ Dated................................................... 
 
 
 

received about drinkers sitting on random doorsteps making it difficult for the 

occupants to leave their property not only due to the obstruction this caused but 

also for fear of retaliation should they challenge the individual(s) responsible.   

 

Businesses also reported fighting between those who frequent the area to drink 

and reports of the same individuals urinating in the street was not uncommon.  

One landlord even showed me photos he had taken of two known alcohol 

dependent males passed out on the pavement and clearly intoxicated. 

 

To help fund their addiction, many of the street drinkers would approach 

business owners and their customers for money, often having random items to 

offer in exchange for cash.  Business owners would be naturally wary of these 

individuals due to their behaviour and temperament which could sometimes be 

volatile and intimidating.  Their primary concern was the welfare of their 

customers who were often left shaken and threatened when approached. 

 

On some occasions shop staff found it necessary to keep the door to their 

premises locked therefore having to let each customer on to the premises as 

they arrived, locking the door behind them to avoid the street drinkers entering 

the shop.  However, the street drinkers would continue to loiter outside in order 

to intercept customers as they arrived and would even approach members of the 

public sitting in their cars. 

 

One of the biggest challenges to addressing the alcohol related antisocial 

behaviour was dealing with a resident of Princes Road who was also alcohol 

Page 89



Middlesbrough Council 
Public Protection 

STATEMENT OF WITNESS 
(Criminal Procedure Rules, r 16.2; 

Criminal Justice Act 1967, s. 9, Magistrates’ Courts Act 1980, s.5B) 
 

STATEMENT OF: Nicola Kenny      SHEET NO. 4 

 

 
Signed........................................ Dated................................................... 
 
 
 

dependent and who was allowing the street drinkers in to his property.  This 

became an attractive location for many alcohol and drug dependent individuals 

across Newport and fast became a constant source of disruption.  Following 

discussions with the tenant he openly admitted to purchasing his alcohol from 

Lifestyle Express.  Enforcement action has since been taken and has resulted in 

a noticeable reduction in incidents.  However, this did not stop known individuals 

continuing to loiter on Princes Road to consume alcohol on a daily basis. 

 

Whilst monitoring the area, following a surge in complaints it soon became 

evident that those who were responsible for the disorder were regular visitors to 

Princes Road and not random individuals just passing through.  Over time you 

come to know the individuals that frequent the area and begin to build a trust that 

not only encourages their engagement with you but also helps directly address 

their chaotic lifestyles and the reasons for their addictions.  Simply moving them 

on, as many businesses expected us to do, did not address the issue and 

enforcement action such as a fine was a futile attempt to solve a problem than 

ran far deeper than just street drinking.  With this in mind and due to the 

disproportionate levels of alcohol related disorder in such a small area,  in May 

2022 I was tasked with addressing all the issues relating to Princes Road and in 

particular the section between Percy Street and Pelham Street.   This small area 

included a number of residential dwellings and several business including 

Lifestyle Express.  The implementation of this action plan, in partnership with 

Cleveland Police, led to contact being made with licensing to help determine if 

there was anything that could be done to control or address the sale of alcohol to 

Page 90



Middlesbrough Council 
Public Protection 

STATEMENT OF WITNESS 
(Criminal Procedure Rules, r 16.2; 

Criminal Justice Act 1967, s. 9, Magistrates’ Courts Act 1980, s.5B) 
 

STATEMENT OF: Nicola Kenny      SHEET NO. 5 

 

 
Signed........................................ Dated................................................... 
 
 
 

those individuals dependent on it. This resulted in a joint visit to the Lifestyle 

Express. 

 

On Friday July 15th 2022 I accompanied PC Thorpe from Cleveland Police and 

Fiona Helyer, Public Health Officer with Middlesbrough Council on a visit to the 

premises to discuss our concerns with the shop owner or manager. As I walked 

along Princes Road I noticed several of the usual drinkers taking up their usual 

positions on the street.  All of those drinking were doing so openly and clearly 

had alcohol in their possession and more specifically brands regularly sold at 

Lifestyle Express. 

During the visit I discussed with Mr Iqbal, who had previously identified himself 

as the owner of the business, my concerns with regards to the recent increase in 

alcohol related nuisance on Princes Road and how I felt this was related to the 

alcohol that was currently available in his store. 

I explained that many of his customers were known to be alcohol dependant and 

whilst he may not be aware of each individuals circumstances, it was clear that 

most of those customers were often under the influence of alcohol, showed 

obvious signs of alcohol consumption such as slurred speech when in the shop 

and were also regular daily visitors not only to the store but to the immediate 

location in general. 

Mr Iqbal indicated that he was fully aware of who I was referring to and even 

explained steps that he had taken to prevent any risk of problems whilst they 

were in the shop.  Mr Iqbal explained that he would only let one of the individuals 

in to the store at any one time and that he limited the amount of cans they 

Page 91



Middlesbrough Council 
Public Protection 

STATEMENT OF WITNESS 
(Criminal Procedure Rules, r 16.2; 

Criminal Justice Act 1967, s. 9, Magistrates’ Courts Act 1980, s.5B) 
 

STATEMENT OF: Nicola Kenny      SHEET NO. 6 

 

 
Signed........................................ Dated................................................... 
 
 
 

purchased to just 4 at a time.  I explained that while this may prevent any 

problems occurring in the store, the cheap, high content alcohol he was selling 

was still likely to be contributing to the issues occurring on the street outside and 

that the next step may be to refuse sales to those individuals completely to allow 

services to tackle the ongoing issues.  His response was that he was willing to try 

but he did show concerns about repercussions. 

Furthermore, I noticed a considerable amount of stock of a particular brand of 

cider stacked on the shop floor.  This was the same brand of choice of all the 

street drinkers and the same cans found littering the streets each day.  This 

confirmed suspicions that Lifestyle Express was the source of the alcohol and 

that the amount of stock was to meet demand. 

However, following the inspection, both police and council licensing agreed it 

appropriate to temporarily suspend all sales of alcohol due to discrepancies 

linked to licensing conditions. 

During a follow up visit to the premises on Wednesday 20th July an individual 

known to me to be alcohol dependant entered the store looking for the cheap 

cider she was so used to buying. When I explained to her that it was no longer 

being sold from here she purchased a bottle of wine instead.  

Shortly after this another individual known to me to be alcohol dependent 

entered the store but left without making a purchase. I spoke to him upon leaving 

the shop and he confirmed that he had intended to buy alcohol.  When I asked 

what he usually buys he confirmed the brand of cider that we suspected as being 

the primary choice for all the alcohol dependent customers.   

Page 92



Middlesbrough Council 
Public Protection 

STATEMENT OF WITNESS 
(Criminal Procedure Rules, r 16.2; 

Criminal Justice Act 1967, s. 9, Magistrates’ Courts Act 1980, s.5B) 
 

STATEMENT OF: Nicola Kenny      SHEET NO. 7 

 

 
Signed........................................ Dated................................................... 
 
 
 

It has to be appreciated that the access to alcohol is only a contributing factor to 

the ongoing issues and not the direct cause of it.  Following the removal of a 

specific brand of cheap, high content alcohol from Lifestyle Express a significant 

drop in incidents was noticeably apparent.  Furthermore, the number of 

individuals who would remain in the immediate vicinity of the shop to consume 

alcohol also reduced over the following days.  As part of the Princes Road Action 

Plan, a number of services offered assistance to several vulnerable individuals 

known for their alcohol dependency and have since managed to offer 

interventions to address their housing needs and addictions resulting in a 

significant decrease in incidents and complaints. Without Mr Iqbal’s cooperation, 

delivering interventions would have proved more difficult and therefore requires 

continued commitment from him if we are to manage the issues effectively in the 

future.  

 

 

 

 

Page 93



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

                                                                                                               AGENDA ITEM 4 
 
FOR THE CHAIR AND MEMBERS OF  
THE LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE  
FOR 23 NOVEMBER 2022  

 
 

APPLICATION FOR TRANSFER OF PREMISES LICENCE AND APPLICATION 

TO VARY DESIGNATED PREMISES SUPERVISOR  

 
       Ref No. PR0415  

Applicant: Mr Abuzar Naveed                              
                                                                                                                   
Premises:  Lifestyle Express, 22-24 Princes Road, Middlesbrough, TS1 4BB     
 
Application received: 27 July 2022   
 
Premises Licence Holder – Mr Abuzar Naveed 
 
Summary of Current Licensable Activities: 
 
SALE OF ALCOHOL ON AND OFF PREMISES 
 
Monday to Sunday 7am to 10pm 
 
A copy of the current Premises Licence is attached at Appendix 1. 
 
1.  Summary of Applications: 
 
The purpose of this report is to enable Members to consider an application for the transfer of 
the premises licence and an application to vary the designated premises supervisor at 
Lifestyle Express, 22-24 Princes Road, Middlesbrough following representations from 
Cleveland Police. 
 
On 28 July 2022 applications were received from Abuzar Naveed to transfer the premises 
licence to Parveen Akhtar Iqbal and to vary the designated premises supervisor to Parveen 
Akhtar Iqbal.  Copies of these applications are attached at Appendicies 2 and 3. 
 
Members should be aware that only the Police can object to such applications where they 
believe that the grant of the applications would undermine the crime and disorder licensing 
objective. 
 
2.  Legislation 
 
The Licensing Act 2003 requires the Licensing Authority to carry out its functions with a view 
to promoting the four licensing objectives: 

 

 The Prevention of Crime and Disorder 

 Public Safety 

Page 95

Agenda Item 4



 The Prevention of Public Nuisance 

 The Protection of Children from Harm  
 

The Licensing Authority must also have regard to its Licensing Policy and any guidance 
issued by the Secretary of State. 

 
3. Consultation on the applications 
 
On 29 July 2022 representations to the applications was received from Cleveland Police 
objecting to the applications on the grounds of the prevention of crime and disorder.  
Cleveland Police state that they do not believe that Mr Naveed has been in control of the 
premises since April 2021 and that the issues at the premises have continued under the new 
management.  A copy of this representation is attached at Appendix 4. 
 
  4.  Background 
 
The Lifestyle Express store, is a busy convenience store situated on a busy residential road 
with a mixture of residential and business premises. The area has historically been part of 
the Council’s Cumulative Impact Area which has lapsed but the Council are seeking to 
reinstate in the very near future. A location plan is attached at Appendix 5. 
 
The premises have had the benefit of a premises licence since 14 April 2009 and Mr Abuzar 
Naveed has been the premises licence holder and designated premises supervisor since 
that time.  
 
5.  The Licensing Policy 
 
Members are referred to the following relevant sections of the Council’s Licensing Policy. 
 
Prevention of Crime and Disorder  Page 20 
 
And any other sections of the Policy which Members consider to be relevant. 
 
6.  Guidance to the Licensing Act 2003  
 
Members are referred to the following relevant sections of the Guidance. 

 
Prevention of Crime and Disorder   Starting at paragraph 2.1 
Police objections to new Designated 
Premises Supervisors    Starting at paragraph 4.39 
Transfer of Premises Licences  Starting at paragraph 8.99 
 
And any other sections of the Guidance which Members consider to be relevant. 
 
7.  Members’ Options 
 
Members may consider the following options: 
 

a. Grant the applications for transfer of the licence and variation of the Designated 
Premises Supervisor. 

b. Refuse the applications for transfer of the licence and variation of the Designated 
Premises Supervisor. 

 
Any party to the hearing who may be aggrieved by the decision taken by the Licensing Sub-
Committee would have a right of appeal to the Magistrates’ Court.  

Page 96



 
Contact Officer: Sarah Morris   
   Principal Licensing Officer, Tel. 728716 

Page 97



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
PREMISES LICENCE 

 
Part A 

  
 
Premises licence number  
 
 

Part 1 - Premises details  
Postal address of premises, or if none, ordnance survey map reference or description  

 
Lifestyle 
22-24 Princes Road 
 

Post town  

Middlesbrough 

Post code 

 TS1 4BB 

Telephone number 

 

Where the licence is time limited the dates 

 
N/A    
 

  

Licensable activities authorised by the licence 

 
Sale of Alcohol 
 
 

 

The times the licence authorises the carrying out of licensable activities 

 
 
SALE OF ALCOHOL OFF PREMISES 

 
Monday to Sunday - 7am to 10pm 
 

  

The opening hours of the premises 

 
Monday to Sunday - 7am to 10pm 
 

 

Where the licence authorises supplies of alcohol whether these are on and/or off supplies  

 
Alcohol sales permitted OFF the premises 
 

 
 
 
 

MBRO/PR0415/063483 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 99



 
Part 2  
 

Name, (registered) address, telephone number and email (where relevant) of holder of premises 
licence  

 
Mr Abuzar Naveed 
142 Abingdon Road  
Middlesbrough   
TS1 3JX 
 
 

 

Registered number of holder, for example company number, charity number (where applicable)  

 
N/A 
 

 

Name, address and telephone number of designated premises supervisor where the premises 
licence authorises the supply of alcohol  

 
Mr Abuzar Naveed 
142 Abingdon Road 
Middlesbrough  
TS1 3JX 
 
07853330329 
 

 

Personal licence number and issuing authority of personal licence held by designated premises 
supervisor where the premises licence authorises for the supply of alcohol  

 
MBRO/PL0759/063747   Issued by Middlesbrough Borough Council 
 
 

  
 
 
 
Granted on 14 April 2009 
 
 

 
   

 
 
    Authorised Officer

Page 100



Annex 1 - Mandatory conditions 

  
 
Mandatory conditions in accordance with Section 19 of the Licensing 
Act 2003: 
 
Where a premises licence authorises the supply of alcohol: 
(i) No supply of alcohol may be made under the premises licence: 
(a) At a time when there is no designated premises supervisor in 
respect of the premises licence, or 
(b) At a time when the designated premises supervisor does not hold 
a personal licence or his personal licence is suspended. 
(ii) Every supply of alcohol under the premises licence must be made 
or authorised by a person who holds a personal licence. 
 
Effective from 1 October 2010 
 
(1)  The premise licence holder or club premises certificate 
holder shall ensure that an age verification policy applies to the 
premises in relation to the sale or supply of alcohol. 
(2)  The policy must require individuals who appear to the 
responsible person to be under 18 years of age (or such older age as 
may be specified in the policy) to produce on request, before being 
served alcohol, identification bearing their photograph, date of birth 
and a holographic mark. 
 

Page 101



Annex 2 - Conditions consistent with the operating Schedule 
  

 
LICENSING OBJECTIVES 
 

 
GENERAL - ALL FOUR LICENSING OBJECTIVES 

 
None 
 
 
THE PREVENTION OF CRIME AND DISORDER 

 
1.  Have a good relationship with Police. 
2.  Will report any disturbances at the premises. 
3.  The premises will be fitted with digital colour CCTV which covers both 
 internal and external areas. All footage will be maintained for 31 days and 
 will be surrendered to a member of any responsible authorities on request. 
4.  No 'perry' will be stocked or sold from the premise at any time. 
5.  A refusal book will be kept on the premises and maintained at all times. 
6.  The Challenge 21 scheme will be operated on the premises and prominent  
signage of this scheme will be displayed in the store. 
7.  Notices will be displayed in the premise stating that alcohol will 
not be served to people under 18 years of age. Notices will also state 
that only accredited proof of identification will be accpeted, those 
being a valid passport or a valid UK photocard driving licence. If no 
identification is provided then the sale of alcohol will be refused. 
8.  An incident book will be kept on the premises and maintained 
showing all incidents of crime and disorder. 
9.  Staff training will be conducted on a 6 monthly basis covering all points  
of serving alcohol to underage persons and serving of alcohol to persons  
already under the influence of the same. Training records of this will be kept  
and maintained for each employee working at the premises. 
 
 
PUBLIC SAFETY 

 
1.  The premises will be fitted with digital colour CCTV which covers 
both internal and external areas. All footage will be maintained for 
31 days and will be surrendered to a member of any responsible 
authorities on request. 
 
 
THE PREVENTION OF PUBLIC NUISANCE 

 
1.  No 'perry' will be stocked or sold from the premise at any time. 
2.  Staff training will be conducted on a 6 monthly basis covering all 
points of serving alcohol to underage persons and serving of alcohol 
to persons already under the influence of the same. Training records 
of this will be kept and maintained for each employee working at the premises. 
 

Page 102



 
THE PROTECTION OF CHILDREN FROM HARM 

 
1.  A refusal book will be kept on the premises and maintained at all times. 
2.  The Challenge 21 scheme will be operated on the premises and 
prominent signage of this scheme will be displayed in the store. 
3.  Notices will be displayed in the premise stating that alcohol will 
not be served to people under 18 years of age. Notices will also state 
that only accredited proof of identification will be accpeted, those 
being a valid passport or a valid UK photocard driving licence. If no 
identification is provided then the sale of alcohol will be refused. 
4.  An incident book will be kept on the premises and maintained 
showing all incidents of crime and disorder. 
5.  Staff training will be conducted on a 6 monthly basis covering all 
points of serving alcohol to underage persons and serving of alcohol 
to persons already under the influence of the same. Training records 
of this will be kept and maintained for each employee working at the premises. 
 

Page 103



Annex 3 - Conditions attached after a hearing by the licensing authority 
  
Not Applicable

Page 104



Annex 4 - Plans 
  

Attached
 

Page 105



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 2

Page 107



Page 108



Page 109



Page 110



Page 111



Page 112



Page 113



Page 114



Page 115



Page 116



Page 117



Page 118



APPENDIX 3

Page 119



Page 120



Page 121



Page 122



Page 123



Page 124



Page 125



Page 126



Page 127



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Representations On A Current Application For A Grant/Variation of a Premises 
Licence Or Club Premises Certificate Under The Licensing Act 2003 

 
Before Completing This Form Please Read The Guidance Notes At The End Of The Form 

 
If you are completing this form by hand please write legibly in block capitals.  In all cases ensure that your answers are 
inside the boxes and written in black ink.  Use additional sheets if necessary.  You may wish to keep a copy of the 
completed form for your records. 
 

 
I (Insert name) 

 
Wish to make representation about the application for variation/grant for a premises licence/club premises 
certificate (delete as applicable) 
 
PART 1 – PREMISES OR CLUB PREMISES DETAILS 
 

Postal Address of Premises or Club Premises, or if none, ordnance survey map reference or description 
 
22-24 Prices Road 

Post Town 
MIDDLESBROUGH 

Post Code 
TS1 4BB 

 

Name of premises licence holder or club holding club premises certificate (if known) 
 

N/A 

 

Number of premises licence or club premise certificate (if known) 
 
MBRO/PR0415/063483 

 
 
PART 2 – DETAILS OF PERSON MAKING REPRESENTATION  
 
I am 

Please  
Tick  

  
1) an interested party (please complete (A) or (B) below)       

 a)  a person living in the vicinity of the premises       

 b)  a body representing persons living in the vicinity of the premises    

 c)  a person involved in business in the vicinity of the premises     

 d)  a body representing persons involved in business in the vicinity of the premises  

  
2) a responsible authority (please complete (C) below)     x 
 
3) a member of the club to which this representation relates (please complete (A) below)  
 
(A) DETAILS OF INDIVIDUAL MAKING REPRESENTATION (fill in as applicable) 

ANDREW THORPE 

APPENDIX 4

Page 129



 

Mr  Mrs   Miss  Ms   Other Title (for example, Rev) 

 

Surname      First Names 

 

 

I am 18 years old or over             Yes       (Please Tick) 

 

Current Address 
 
 
 
 

 

Post Town  Post Code  

  

Daytime contact telephone number  

 

E-mail address (optional)  

 
 

(B) DETAILS OF OTHER PARTY MAKING REPRESENTATION (e.g. Body or Business) 

 

Name and Address 

 

 

 

 

 

Telephone Number (If any) 
 

 

E-Mail address (optional) 
 

 

 
 
(C) DETAILS OF RESPONSIBLE AUTHORITY MAKING REPRESENTATION 

Name and Address 

CHIEF CONSTABLE OF CLEVELAND POLICE 

C/O POLICE CONSTABLE 1845 JASON ARBUCKLE 

MIDDLESBROUGH DISTRICT H/Q 

BRIDGE STREET WEST 

MIDDLESBROUGH 

TS2 1AB 

 

Telephone Number (If any) 
 

01642 302360 

E-Mail address (optional) 
 

 

 

     

  

 

Page 130



This representation relates to the following licensing objective(s) 

Please  
Tick  

  

1. The prevention of crime and disorder       X 

2. Public safety           

3. The prevention of public nuisance        

4. The protection of children from harm        

 

Please state the ground(s) for representation.  (please read guidance note 1) 

Cleveland Police have received an application made under the Licensing Act 2003 for a 

transfer of premises licence for Lifestyle Express, 22-24 Princes Road, Middlesbrough  

and an application to vary the Designated Premise Supervisor for the same premise. 

 

Cleveland Police wish to object to both applications for the following reasons, 

 

Cleveland Police have recently submitted an application to review the licence for the 

premise due to issues of disorder ASB and alcohol related incidents in the area around the 

premise, and believe that the premise is not upholding the four licensing objectives. This 

review is not specific to the currently named DPS Mr Naveed as we believe Mr Naveed 

does not have day to day control of the premise and has not had day to day control since 

handing over the lease in April 2021. We also believe that the issues have continued 

under the new management who is the husband of the new applicant wishing to be named 

as DPS. 

 

We therefore do not think it  is appropriate to accept these applications at this time until the 

outcome of the review hearing is determined and would object to both applications outright 

at this moment in time.    

   

Please provide as much information as possible to support the representation.  (Please read guidance note 2) 

 

Further evidence/information will be provided if needed. 
Please  
Tick  

  

Have you made any representation relating to these premises before?    

 

      
   Day Month Year 

If Yes, please state the date of that representation 2 8 0 7 2 0 2 2 

 

Page 131



 

If you have made representation before relating to these premises please state what they were and when 
you made them. 
 
An application to review the premise licence of the premise was submitted yesterday. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 How We Collect And Use Information 
 
By completing this document you give Middlesbrough Council the authority to collect and retain information about you for the purpose of 
the application.  In order to process the application we may need to check this information with other enforcement agencies, local 
authorities or government departments.  
 
We must protect the public funds we handle and so we may use the information you have provided on this form to prevent and detect 
fraud.  We may also share this information with other enforcement agencies including those organisations which handle public funds.  
Middlesbrough Council will not disclose information about you unless the law permits. 
 
Middlesbrough Council is the Data Controller for the purposes of the Data Protection Act.  If you want to know more about the 
information the Authority holds about you or the way the Authority uses that information please contact the Information Security Officer, 
PO Box 17, Melrose House, 1 Melrose Street, Middlesbrough, TS1 2YW. 
 

 
Part 3 – Signatures   (Please read guidance note 3)  
 
Signature of representative or representative’s solicitor or other duly authorised agent.  (See guidance note 
4)  If signing on behalf of the representative please state in what capacity. 
 

Signature 
 

PC894 THORPE Date 29/07/2022 

Capacity 
 

LICENSING SUPPORT ACTING SERGEANT 
 

 
 

Contact name (where not previously given) and address for correspondence associated with this 
representation.  (Please read guidance note 5) 
 
Middlesbrough Police HQ, 
Bridge Street West, 
 

Post Town 
 
Middlesbrough 

Post Code  
 
TS2 1AB 

 
Telephone Number (if any) 
 

01642 302360 

E-mail Address (optional) 
 

Andrew.thorpe@cleveland.police.uk 

 
Notes for Guidance 
 

Page 132



1. The ground(s) for representation must be based on one of the licensing objectives. 
2. Please list any additional information or details for example dates of problems, which are included in 

the grounds for representation, if applicable. 
3. The representation form must be signed. 
4. A representative’s agent (for example solicitor) may sign the form on their behalf provided that they 

have actual authority to do so. 
5. This is the address, which we shall use to correspond with you about this representation. 
6. Information on the Licensing Act 2003 is available at www.middlesbrough.gov.uk and you are 

advised to read any relevant guidance leaflets before completing this form. 
 

Page 133

http://www.middlesbrough.gov.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



MG 11-00(T) 
 RESTRICTED (when complete) 

CLEVELAND POLICE
WITNESS STATEMENT 

(CJ Act 1967, s9 MC Act 1980, ss5A(3)(a) and 5B; Criminal Procedure Rules 2005, r.27.1(1) 

Form/Template Revised 06/2009 SB.C:\USERS\MLX284\WORK FOLDERS\DESKTOP\NEW FOLDER (2)\AG ITEM 4 APPX 4A MG 11 
PC894 THORPE LIFESTYLE EXPRESS STATEMENT OCTOBER 2022.DOC 

URN 17 

Statement of Andrew THORPE 

Age if under 18 Over 18 (If over 18 insert "Over 18") Occupation Police Constable 0894 

This statement (consisting of 5 page(s) each signed by me) is true to the best of my knowledge and belief 
and I make it knowing that if it is tendered in evidence I shall be liable to prosecution if I have wilfully stated 
anything in it, which I know to be false, or do not believe to be true. 

Signature Andrew Thorpe Date:  10/10/2022 

Tick if witness evidence is visually recorded   (supply witness details on rear) 

I am a serving police officer with Cleveland Police. I am currently stationed with the 

Licensing Support Unit at Middlesbrough Police HQ and have attained a BIIAB Level 2 

Award for Licensing Practitioners and a BIIAB Level 2 for Legislative Requirements for 

Alcohol Licensed Premise and the Assessment for recognised Award Schemes. 

Part of my role as a licensing support officer is to monitor licensed premises within all four 

districts of the Cleveland Police area, including Middlesbrough, ensuring that they are 

trading within the spirit of the four licensing objectives. We will ask that they will not have 

an adverse effect on the surrounding community or have a negative impact on Crime & 

Disorder, Public Safety or Public Nuisance objectives and will Prevent Harm to Children. 

This statement is in relation to a review application submitted by Cleveland Police 

regarding The Lifestyle Express Store, Princes Road, Middlesbrough, as we believe that 

the store has failed to uphold three of the four of the Licensing Objectives, namely Crime & 

Signature PC894 A Thorpe Signature Witnessed by 

Appendix 4a

Page 135



MG 11-00(T) 
  RESTRICTED (when complete)  

 

                                                          CLEVELAND POLICE 
  Page No 2 

Continuation of Statement of Andrew THORPE 
 

 

Disorder, Prevention of Public Nuisance, and Public Safety. 

 

The Lifestyle Express store, 22-24 Princes Road, Middlesbrough is a busy convenience 

store situated on a busy residential road with a mixture of residential and business 

premises. The area has historically been part of the council’s Cumulative Impact Area 

(CIA) which has lapsed but the council are seeking to reinstate in the very near future and 

this area will again be part of this for very good reason. 

 

During 2019/2020 we had several meetings with the Designated Premise Supervisor (DPS) 

Mr Naveed, regarding on going issues of street drinking, disorder and crime which were 

linked to the sale of alcohol from the premise. Mr Naveed agreed to an Action Plan which 

was in full flow with positive results as of January 2020 until the pandemic hit causing 

lockdowns and restrictions.  

 

After the lifting of restrictions, the store fully re-opened and Mr Naveed handed the reigns 

over to Mr Iqbal, although Mr Naveed remains on the licence as the named DPS. The 

incidents have again slowly increased, with the premise again selling stronger cans of 

beer, cider and lager and selling them as individual cans at a cost of between 99p and 

£1.20 a can.  

 

The incidents have reached a crescendo with street drinking, Anti-social behaviour and 

nuisance being a daily occurrence and the familiar black cans of cheap high ABV cider 

Page 136



MG 11-00(T) 
  RESTRICTED (when complete)  

 

                                                          CLEVELAND POLICE 
  Page No 3 

Continuation of Statement of Andrew THORPE 
 

 

being ever present. Street Enforcement and the Neighbourhood Police team have both 

taken steps to deal with the issues and have visited the store on a number of occasions. 

 

Police Licensing along with Public Health visited the premise on Friday 15th July 2022. On 

arrival we immediately saw two females arguing outside the shop, the arguing was 

becoming more intense, and the situation was escalating. We had to step in to put a stop to 

the incident. As the situation was calming and the females were walking away a male 

across the road drinking from a Black can began to shout across the road at the officers. I 

approached the male who was drinking a can of Knights cider which is sold from the store 

we were attending, and he had another can of the same drink next to him. Knights is a high 

ABV (8.4% ABV) and low cost (£1.20 a can sold as single cans). He was clearly drunk, his 

eyes glazed, and his speech slurred. The male was spoken and told to leave the area. 

These types of incidents are not unusual in this area. 

 

On entering the store and looking around we saw Perry products for sale on the shelves (a 

breach of the premise licence conditions), high ABV single cans of cider making up a large 

portion of the alcohol for sale, and the majority of litre plus bottles of cider were again high 

ABV. Mr Iqbal was serving and watching over the store and when asked confirmed that he 

was in charge and that he had been running the business since last year. He was asked 

why Mr Naveed was still named as DPS on the licence, but Mr Iqbal had no satisfactory 

answer. As we were of the opinion that there was no DPS in day-to-day control of the 

premises Mt Iqbal was asked to refrain from the sale of alcohol until the matter was 

resolved, removing alcohol from floor displays, covering the refrigerated alcohol and 

Page 137



MG 11-00(T) 
  RESTRICTED (when complete)  

 

                                                          CLEVELAND POLICE 
  Page No 4 

Continuation of Statement of Andrew THORPE 
 

 

refusing any further requests for sale. Mr Iqbal agreed to this and was seen to refuse the 

next few customers’ service of alcohol while we were there. 

 

Police Licensing, Public Health, Council Licensing and Street Enforcement officers 

attended the store again on Tuesday 19th July 2022 at 13:15 hours. Mr Iqbal was again in 

attendance, but Mr Naveed was also there serving from behind the counter. Mr Naveed 

stated he was there as DPS and when asked considered that he was in day-to-day control 

of the premises. Mr Naveed was asked to demonstrate the CCTV, he stated that there had 

been some problems with the CCTV. When he tried to go back to show us footage from 

previous days it was found that CCTV was only on from that day and no previous CCTV 

had been recorded. This was despite our visit on Friday 15th July and the council’s visit on 

Monday 18th July when Mr Iqbal had been asked about the CCTV on both occasions. Mr 

Naveed was then asked to produce Training records, the incident book and the refusals 

book. Mr Naveed produced three books which all looked brand new, in fact the training 

record had a price label on it which looked new. There were entries in the training book and 

the refusals log, but they all looked to be in the same pen and by the same person. The 

books were seized as evidence. 

 

Mr Naveed attended the Civic Centre, Middlesbrough for a meeting with responsible 

authorities regarding the issues at Lifestyle Express. He explained that for the past two 

weeks he had been there on the Monday of both for a maximum of two hours and 

estimated his regular attendance as four hours a week which I do not believe fulfils his 

obligation of day to day running of the premise. He does not have responsibility for stock, 

Page 138



MG 11-00(T) 
  RESTRICTED (when complete)  

 

                                                          CLEVELAND POLICE 
  Page No 5 

Continuation of Statement of Andrew THORPE 
 

 

staff wages, or other managerial duties and holds down a part time job elsewhere. He was 

unwilling to acknowledge the issues in the area and could not see the part the store played 

in the problems. He also said that on re-opening after the COVID restrictions he did not 

continue with the Action Plan that had been agreed in January 2020 which he did agree 

probably did not help.  

 

We have since received an application to vary the Designated Premises Supervisor for the 

premises which we have objected to awaiting the outcome of this review hearing. 

 

A review of any premises licence is the last resort, and we will always strive to met the 

premises needs in other ways before resorting to this however the familiar cycle of issues 

with the premises have forced our hands. Unfortunately, the running of the premise does 

not instil us with the confidence that matters could be put right in the short term, leading to 

further disruption for the residents and possible ASB and disorder. With their continued 

sale of single can high strength alcohol and large bottles of high ABV white cider we 

believe that the Licensing Objectives as a consequence are and will continue to be 

undermined. 

Page 139



This page is intentionally left blank



 

P
age 141



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Licensing Act 2003 - Application for Review of Premises Licence: Lifestyle Express, 22-24 Princes Road, Middlesbrough, TS1 4BB.  Ref: PRO415.
	Appendix 1 - Current Premises Licence
	Appendix 2 - Cleveland Police Application to Review
	Appendix 2a - Statement from Cleveland Police
	Appendix 2b - Statement of PC Thorpe
	Appendix 3 - Representations of the Licensing Authority
	Appendix 4 - Representations from Public Health
	Appendix 5 - Representations from Guidos
	Appendix 6 - Representatives from Neighbourhood Safety
	Appendix 7 - Representations from Cllr Cooke
	Appendix 8 - Location Plan
	Appendix 9 - Representations from Nicola Kenny

	4 Licensing Act 2003 - Application for Transfer of Premises Licence and Application to Vary the Designated Premises Supervisor in respect of Lifestyle Express, 22-24 Princes Road, Middlesbrough, TS1 4BB.
	Appendix 1 - Current Premises Licence
	Appendix 2 - Application to Transfer Premises Licence (Redacted)
	Appendix 3 - Application to Vary DPS (Redacted)
	Appendix 4 - Representations from Cleveland Police
	Appendix 4a - Statement of PC Thorpe
	Appendix 5 - Location Plan




